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Respondent.

FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

Nicole Stewart, Respondent, appeals the initial written decision of the Administrative
Law Judge (ALJ). The ALJ found respondent violated 49 C.F.R. §§1540.105(a) and 103(b) and
assessed a civil penalty of $2,500.00. For the reasons discussed below, Responde;lt’s appeal is
denied. The initial decision of the ALJ that Respondent violated 49 C.F.R. §§1540.105(a) and
103(b) and the civil penalty is affirmed.

Pursuant to the Transportation Security Administration’s (TSA’s) rules of practice for
civil penalty actions, a party may appeal only the following issues: (1) whether each finding of
fact made by the ALJ is supported by a preponderance of reliable, probative, and substantial ‘
evidence; (2) whether each conclusion of law by the ALJ is made in accordance with applicable
law, precedent, and public policy; and (3) whether the ALJ committed any prejudicial errors
during the hearing that support the appeal. 49 C.F.R. § 1503.657(b).

In the initial decision, the ALJ explains that TSA transmitted a Notice of Proposed Civil
Penalty (NPCP) on June 8, 2009 to Respondent’s address. Respondent signed for the NPCP and
returned a request for a hearing. In accordance with TSA’s rules of practice, TSA sent a
Complaint to Respondent at the same address. The Complaint alleged that while employed by
Swiss Cargo Services at the United Cargo Facility at the Denver International Airport,
Respondent made entries on five cargo packages that explosive detection screening had been

performed when, in fact, videotape evidence indicates that Respondent did not perform



'

screening. The Complaint charged Respondent with violating 49 C.F.R. §1540.105(a) which
states that no person may tamper or interfere with, compromise, modify, attempt to circumvent,
or cause a person to tamper or interfere with, compromise, modify, or attempt to circumvent any
security system, measure, or procedure and 49 C.F.R. §1540.103(b) which states that no person
may make or cause to be made any fraudulent or intentionally false entry in any record or report
that is kept, made or used to show compliance with TSA regulations. TSA requested a civil
penalty of $2,500.00.

Respondent failed to claim the Complaint and the Postal Service returned it to TSA after
attempting to deliver it on three occasions. TSA’s rules of practice require that an Answer to the
Complaint be filed not later than 30 days after receipt of the Complaint. 49 C.F.R. §1503.611.
Failure to file an Answer without good cause as determined by the ALJ will be deemed an
admission of the truth of each allegation contained in the Complaint. The Complaint contained
instructions for filing an Answer and a template that can be used to provide an Answer. In order
to determine whether Respondent had good cause for failing to provide an Answer, the ALJ
attempted to contact Respondent by telephone. Respondent hung up on the ALJ’s law clerk and
did not answer the telephone on a subsequent attempt. The ALJ found that Respondent failed to
show good cause as to why she did not file an Answer and deemed the allegations in the .
Complaint admitted, in accordance with TSA’s rules of practice.

TSA filed a Motion for Decision. The rules of practice provide that if there is no genuine
issue of material fact, the party moving for a decision is entitled to a decision as a matter of law.
49 C.F.R. §1503.629(e)(5). The ALJ granted the Motion and assessed a civil penalty of

$2,500.00.



In her appeal, Respondent complains that she did not receive a hearing. As explained
above, the ALJ properly applied the rules of practice in granting TSA’s Motion for Decision.
The Complaint was properly served and Respondent was responsible for filing an Answer.
Respondent did not show good cause as to why she failed to do so. In accordance with the rules
of practice, the ALJ properly deemed the allegations in the Complaint admitted and granted
TSA’s Motion for Decision.

Based on the forgoing, Respondent’s appeal is denied. Tl?e initial finding that
Respondent violated 49 C.F.R. §§1540.105(a) and 1540.103(b) is affirmed. The civil penalty is
consistent with TSA’s Enforcement Sanction Guidance Policy described on TSA’s web site at
www.tsa.gov. The civil penalty ordered by the ALJ is affirmed.

Either party may petition the TSA Decision Maker to reconsider or modify a Final
Decision and Order. The rules of practice for filing a Petition for Reconsideration are described
at 49 C.F.R. § 1503.659. A party must file the petition with the TSA Enforcement Docket clerk
at the address listed in 49 C.F.R. § 1503.413(c)(3) not later than 30 days after service of the Final
Decision and Order. A party may seek judicial review of the Final Decision and Order as

provided in 49 U.S.C. § 46110.
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